
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.

Please ask for:
Helen Johnson

7 August 2018

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
ESTATE MANAGEMENT APPEALS PANEL to be held on Wednesday 15 August 2018 at 
7.30pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, 
Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  SUBSTITUTION OF MEMBERS 

To note any substitution of Members made in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 19-22.

2.  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies.

3.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 June 2018 
(previously circulated).

4.  NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 10 
AND ANY ITEMS WITHDRAWN FROM THE AGENDA 

5.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda.

Public Document Pack



6.  37 LINKFIELD WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL7 4DN - 6/2018/1096/EM - 
INSTALLATION OF SOLAR PANELS ON THE ROOF - RETROSPECTIVE (Pages 
5 - 16)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
sets out an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management Consent for the 
retention of retrospective solar photovoltaic panels to the front and rear roof slopes 
of the property.

7.  37 LINKFIELD WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL7 4DN - 6/2018/1275/EM - 
INSTALLATION OF A REPLACEMENT FRONT DOOR (Pages 17 - 32)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
sets out an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management Consent for the 
replacement of a front door to the property.

8.  74 ROSEDALE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL7 1DR - 6/2018/0110/EM - 
REPLACEMEMT OF CONERVATORY (Pages 33 - 60)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
sets out an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management Consent for the 
replacement of an existing conservatory.

9.  UPDATE ON OUTSTANDING ENFORCEMENT CASES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTION UNDER THE TERMS OF 
THE MANAGEMENT SCHEME FOR WELWYN GARDEN CITY FOR BREACHES 
OF THAT SCHEME (Pages 61 - 70)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) to 
update Members with regard to outstanding arbitration cases that were put before 
the Panel, up to and including, on 14 June 2018.

10.  SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION 

11.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Panel is asked to resolve:

That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 12 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100A(3) and Paragraphs 5 (privileged and legal advice) and 6 (statutory 
notice or order) Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended).

In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.    



PART II

12.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF A CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT NATURE AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN 

Circulation: Councillors S.Glick (Chairman)
H.Bower
H.Bromley
A.Chesterman

M.Cowan
L.Musk
N.Pace

Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Helen 
Johnson, Governance Services on 01707 357467 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ESTATE MANAGEMENT SCHEME PANEL -15 AUGUST 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)

6/2018/1096/EM

37 LINKFIELD WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL7 4DN

INSTALLATION OF SOLAR PANELS ON THE ROOF - RETROSPECTIVE

APPLICANT: Agnieszka Kolodziejczyk 

(Hollybush)
1. Background

1.1. The appeal is against the refusal of Estate Management Consent for the 
retention of retrospective solar photovoltaic panels to the front and rear roof 
slopes of the property. The application (reference: 6/2018/1096/EM) was 
refused on the 11 June 2018 for the following reason:

“The front solar panels, by virtue of their siting, scale, number and 
appearance, would result in an overly prominent installation that would be 
harmful to the character and appearance of the property, amenities and 
values of the area. Whilst the installation would improve the energy 
efficiency of the property this does not outweigh the harm to visual 
amenity. The retrospective application is therefore contrary to Policy EM1 
of the Estate Management Scheme.”

1.2 Following the refusal of the Estate Management Scheme on the 11 June 2018 
the case was returned to the Estate Management Appeals Panel to seek 
clarification on whether authority had been granted to take the case to 
arbitration, and Members unanimously agreed to do so. 

2. Site Description

2.1. The appeal site, 37 Linkfield, is a mid-terraced two storey dwelling with a 
pitched roof and forms part of a row of four terrace properties. The dwelling is 
located on the east side of Linkfield, which connects Boundary Lane with 
Howlands.

2.2. The terraced properties within Linkfield are uniform in design, architecture and 
style. The design of the roofs within the vicinity, have not undergone alterations, 
therefore contributing the uniform character and appearance of the dwellings 
within the vicinity. 

3. The Proposal

3.1. The proposal seeks retrospective Estate Management Consent for the 
installation of solar photovoltaic panels to the front and rear roof slopes. There 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



are six solar panels on the front roof slope and six situated on the rear roof 
slope. 

4. Relevant Estate Management History

4.1. Application Number: 6/2018/1275/EM Decision: Refused Decision Date: 15 
June 2018 Proposal: Installation of a replacement front door 

4.2. The above application has been appealed and will also be heard by the panel. 

5. Policy

5.1. Estate Management Scheme Policies (October 2008)

EM1 – Extensions and Alterations

6. Representations Received

6.1. No representations have been received.

7. Discussion

7.1. This is an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management Consent. The 
appellant’s letter of appeal is attached at Appendix 1 and the original officer’s 
report for application referenced 6/2018/1069/EM is attached at Appendix 2.

7.2. The key issue in the determination of this appeal case is the impact of the 
retrospective front solar photovoltaic panels upon the amenities and values of 
the Garden City. The assessment concluded the development would not result 
in adverse harm upon residential amenity of adjoining occupiers. 

7.3. It is noted, the solar photovoltaic panels sited on the rear roof slope would not 
result in adverse harm upon the amenities and values of the area. The 
objection is to the solar panels sited on the front roof slope, due to their siting, 
scale, number and appearance, resulting in an overly prominent installation that 
would be harmful to the character and appearance of the property, amenities 
and values of the area. 

7.4. In recognition of the importance of Welwyn Garden City as a unique town and 
in order to protect the amenities and values of the Garden City, the Estate 
Management Scheme was set up. The purpose of the Management Scheme 
and its importance to homeowners is to ensure that homes and street scenes 
are kept in harmony with the original design and concept of the town.

7.5. The challenge with Garden City settlements is how to manage change whilst at 
the same time ensuring that the fundamental aesthetics, amenities and values 
of the Garden City remain intact. This is important, not just in visual terms, but 
also because Garden City settlements provide evidence for the ongoing debate 
about housing provision in the UK and the creation of sustainable communities. 

7.6. This resulted in roof alterations including solar photovoltaic panels having to 
accord with Policy EM1 and the Energy Efficiency and Other Roof Alterations 
note. 

Page 6



7.7. Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme seeks to preserve the unique 
architectural heritage of the town and its buildings and only allows roof 
alterations if they are in keeping with the design, appearance, materials and 
architectural detailing used in the existing building and do not have a 
detrimental impact on the amenities and values of the surrounding area or 
residential amenity of adjoining occupiers.

7.8. The Energy Efficiency and Other Roof Alterations Guidance note the following 
requirements:

i. Estate Management Consent will only be granted for energy efficiency 
measures and other roof alterations where they are sited on the rear or 
side roof slope and are sited to minimise the effect on the external 
appearance of the building.

ii. Estate Management Consent will only be granted if the proposed 
alteration, when viewed from any surrounding public vantage point does 
not have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the 
streetscene and the wider amenities and values of the area.

iii. Exceptions to this Policy approach will apply where, in the judgement of 
the case officer the architectural design and style of an individual 
property or the wider character of the area means that an alteration on a 
principal roof slope of a property would not have a detrimental impact on 
the character and appearance of the streetscene and wider amenities 
and values of the area.

iv. In all cases the decision maker will continue to weigh the environmental 
benefits of energy efficiency measures against the visual impact.

7.9. The solar photovoltaic panels are sited on the front and rear roof slope. There 
are no objections to the solar photovoltaic panels at the rear of the dwelling, as 
this is in line with criteria (i).  Whereas the photovoltaic panels sited on the front 
roof slope are contrary to criteria (i), thus increase the effect on the external 
appearance of the building when viewed from the street scene. 

7.10. Linkfield is characterised with terraced properties of similar architectural design 
and appearance. The appealed site is a mid-terraced property. The other 
dwellings within the terraced row have not altered the appearance or design of 
the roofs. As such, the roof slopes are of a symmetrical architectural design, 
which is a common feature within the Garden City.   

7.11. Clear views can be obtained of the roof slope, due to the open frontage and 
proximity to the street scene. As such, the addition of six solar photovoltaic 
panels, covering the majority of the front roof slope, disrupts the uniform 
architectural design, character and appearance of the dwelling within the 
locality. The development therefore appears incongruous and out of keeping 
with the character and appearance of the surrounding properties. 

7.12. Due to the visibility of the solar photovoltaic panels within the streetscene the 
development has a detrimental impact upon the uniform character and 
appearance of the streetscene and wider amenities and values of the area. As 

Page 7



such, the development is contrary to criteria (ii) and (iii) and Policy EM1 of the 
Estate Management Scheme.  

7.13. It is acknowledged, the solar photovoltaic panels are an energy efficiency 
measure beneficial to the environment. However, the Estate Management 
Scheme has been created and adapted over time to support such sustainable 
methods, whilst ensuring amenities and values of the Garden City are 
maintained and enhanced.  

7.14. In this case, benefits of the installation of the solar photovoltaic panels on the 
front roof slope do not outweigh the visual harm upon the amenities and values 
of the Garden City. For this reason, and those discussed above, the 
retrospective development is contrary to the supporting Energy Efficiency and 
Other Roof Alterations note for Policy EM1. 

7.15. Whilst the Council has no objection to the rear solar photovoltaic panels, the 
front solar photovoltaic panels do not preserve the unique architectural heritage 
of the town as it causes harm to the character and appearance of the building 
and the street scene. Thus resulting in a detrimental harm upon the amenities 
and values of the Garden City contrary to Policy EM1. 

7.16. As mentioned above, the reason for refusal was due to the front solar panels, 
siting, scale, number and appearance, resulting in an overly prominent 
installation that would be harmful to the character and appearance of the 
property, amenities and values of the area. 

7.17. The case by the appellant also includes the following Estate Management 
matters:

 the government recommend solar panel installation;

 the solar panels on the front of the roof are barely visible;

 the installation has not affected the valuation of properties within the 
area;

 Other dwellings in Estate Management obtain solar panels including 
Council owned properties. 

7.18. The government and local authority support solar photovoltaic panels, and 
within the UK Solar PV Strategy Part 1: Roadmap to a Brighter Future (October 
2013), which forms the basis of the Government’s strategy for solar 
photovoltaic panels, one principle (iii) states “Support for solar photovoltaic 
panels should ensure proposals are appropriately sited, give proper weight to 
environmental considerations such as landscape and visual impact, heritage 
and local amenity…..”.

7.19. Estate Management Scheme stipulates that “Estate Management Consent will 
only be granted for energy efficiency measures and other roof alterations where 
they are sited on the rear or side roof slope, and are sited to minimise the effect 
on the external appearance of the building”. Those sited on the front roof slope 
are visible from the street scene.

Page 8



7.20. In this case, the siting of the solar photovoltaic panels on the front roof slope 
are deemed inappropriate, resulting in adverse harm upon visual amenity, not 
complying the UK Solar Strategy Part 1: Roadmap to a Brighter Future 
(October 2013) and contrary to Estate Management Policy EM1.

7.21. The appellant highlights that Council owned properties in the Estate 
Management Scheme obtain solar panels. There were no specific dwellings 
listed and therefore cannot comment on whether they obtain Estate 
Management or require Enforcement Action. Regardless, every application is 
considered on its own merits, and as mentioned above, no specific dwellings 
were listed and therefore limited weight is given.

7.22. A compelling case has therefore not been made by the appellant to 
demonstrate circumstances to why the proposed development, in its context, 
should override the wider values and amenities of Linkfield and the Garden 
City. 

7.23. Accordingly, the proposal fails to reflect the character and appearance of the 
terrace properties to which it is located and the streetscene of Linkfield. The 
proposed development therefore fails to maintain the amenities and values of 
the Estate Management Area.

8. Conclusion

8.1. No additional evidence or information has been put forward by the appellant 
which adds to or would alter officer’s recommendation. The front solar 
photovoltaic panels, by virtue of their siting, scale, number and appearance, 
result in an overly prominent installation that is harmful to the character and 
appearance of the property, amenities and values of the area. Whilst the 
installation would improve the energy efficiency of the property this does not 
outweigh the harm to visual amenity. The retrospective application is therefore 
contrary to Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme and the supporting 
note titled Estate Management – Energy Efficiency and Other Roof Alteration.

9. Recommendation

9.1. That the Members uphold the delegated decision and dismiss the appeal

Name of Author: Clare Howe 

Title: Development Management Officer

Date: 20 July 2018

Background papers:

Appendix 1: Appellants grounds of appeal

Appendix 2: Original delegated officer’s report

Page 9



Page 10



1

Emma Graham

From: Agnieszka Kolodziejczyk <aga.kolodziejczyk36@gmail.com>

Sent: 12 July 2018 15:35

To: Planning

Subject: Case reference number ENF/2017/0006- appeal

Attachments: IMG_0426.png; ATT00001.txt

 
WARNING: This email originated outside the WHBC Network. Please be extra vigilant when opening attachments or 
clicking links. 
. 
 
Good afternoon 
 
As I received notice of refusal decision retain my solar panels on the front and on the rear of the roof this is my 
appeal. 
In the letter states that the solar panels would be harmful to the character of property, amenities and value of the 
area. 
Rear solar panels can’t be seen from the street so that is just unjustified arguments. 
That is government recommendation to install solar panel. 
Solar panels on the front of the roof are barley visible . I do believe no one from planning didn’t even see them how 
they look. I disagree with opinion that panels harmful to the character of the house or area.House two doors next to 
mine was sold for £385K , my solar panels didn’t affect the price. 
I found other houses in Estate Management Area with solar panels. I’m attaching the picture for example. Council 
houses in Estate Management Area also have solar panels. 
And last point, In official letter from Welwyn Hatfield Council there was used my nickname instead my full name 
which was disrespectful and out of order. 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND GOVERNANCE

DELEGATED APPLICATION

Application No: 6/2018/1096/EM
Location: 37 Linkfield Welwyn Garden City AL7 4DN
Proposal: Installation of solar panels on the roof - retrospective
Officer:  Ms Clare Howe

Recommendation: Refused

6/2018/1096/EM
Context
Site and 
Application 
description

37 Linkfield is a two storey mid-terraced dwelling house situated on the east 
side of Linkfield, which connects Boundary Lane with Howlands. The site falls 
within the Estate Management Scheme.

The applicant seeks estate management consent for the retrospective 
installation of solar panels on the front and rear roof slope. 

Constraints Estate Management Scheme, as defined within the Leasehold Reform Act 
1967

Relevant history Application Number: ENF/2017/0006Decision: Decision Date: 
Proposal: Installation of solar panels on front and back roof slope

Application Number: 6/2018/1275/EM Decision: Decision Date: 
Proposal: Installation of a replacement front door

Notifications
Neighbour 
representations

Support: 0 Object: 0 Other: 0

Consultee 
responses

None received

Relevant Policies

EM1  EM2  EM3
Others         

Considerations
Design (form, 
size, scale, siting) 
and Character 
(impact upon 
amenities and 
values of Garden 
City)

Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme is relevant and concerns 
extensions and alterations. It seeks to preserve the unique architectural
heritage of the town and its buildings and only allows extensions and
alterations if they are in keeping with the design, appearance, materials and
architectural detailing used in the existing building and do not have a
detrimental impact on the amenities and values of the surrounding area or the 
residential amenity of adjoining occupiers.

In 2008, the Council reviewed the policies it uses to consider applications 
under the Welwyn Garden City Estate Management Scheme. The proposal to
install solar panels to the front and rear roof slope would require the 

Page 13



2 of 3

application to also be assessed in terms of roof alterations as follows:

• Estate Management Consent will only be granted for energy efficiency
measures and other roof alterations where they are sited on the rear or
side roof slope and are sited to minimise the effect on the external appearance 
of the building;

• Estate Management Consent will only be granted if the proposed
alteration, when viewed from any surrounding public vantage point does not 
have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the streetscene 
and the wider amenities and values of the area;

• Exceptions to this Policy approach will apply where, in the judgement of
the case officer the architectural design and style of an individual
property or the wider character of the area means that an alteration on
a principal roof slope of a property would not have a detrimental impact
on the character and appearance of the streetscene and wider amenities and 
values of the area;

• In all cases the decision maker will continue to weigh the environmental 
benefits of energy efficiency measures against the visual impact.

The retrospective solar panels would be situated at the front and rear of the 
side roof slope.

Public views onto the front roof slope are obtainable from Linkfield.
Because of the number and their position and their prominent location on the
front roof slope they would have detrimental impact on the character and 
appearance of the property, the streetscene and the wider amenities and 
values of the area.

Those sited to the rear of the dwelling would be obscured from the street 
scene, thus mitigating any significant harm upon the streetscene and the wider 
amenities and values of the area. 

The retrospective scheme by virtue of the siting of the solar panels on the front 
roof slope, scale, number and detailed design of the solar panels would fail to 
maintain and enhance the amenities and values of the Garden City, and 
because of this, the proposal fails to accord with the policy approach to roof 
alterations.

Impact on 
neighbours

The retrospective development would not impact upon the residential 
amenities of adjoining residents in terms of loss of light, loss of privacy or 
outlook.

Conclusion
The front solar panels, by virtue of their siting, scale, number and appearance, would result in an 
overly prominent installation that would be harmful to the character and appearance of the property, 
amenities and values of the area. Whilst the installation would improve the energy efficiency of the 
property this does not outweigh the harm to visual amenity. The retrospective application is therefore 
contrary to Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme.

Page 14



3 of 3

Reasons for Refusal: 

1. The front solar panels, by virtue of their siting, scale, number and appearance, 
would result in an overly prominent installation that would be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the property, amenities and values of the area.  
Whilst the installation would improve the energy efficiency of the property this does 
not outweigh the harm to visual amenity.  The retrospective application is therefore 
contrary to Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme.

REFUSED DRAWING NUMBERS

2.
Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

100053143 Block Plan 26 April 2018
Page 1 Existing  Roof Plan 15 May 2018
page 2 Pre Existing Roof Plan 15 May 2018

Determined By:

Mr Michael Robinson
11 June 2018

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ESTATE MANAGEMENT SCHEME PANEL -15 AUGUST 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)

6/2018/1275/EM

37 LINKFIELD WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL7 4DN

INSTALLATION OF A REPLACEMENT FRONT DOOR

APPLICANT: Agnieszka Kolodziejczyk
(Hollybush)

1. Background

1.1. The appeal is against the refusal of Estate Management Consent for the 
replacement of a front door to the property. The application (reference: 
6/2018/1275/EM) was refused on the 11 June 2018 for the following reason:

“The proposed design would not be in keeping with the design, appearance, 
and architectural detailing used in the existing building. The proposal would 
therefore be detrimental to the amenities and values of the surrounding area 
and the Garden City, thus contrary to Policy EM4 of the Estate Management 
Scheme”.

1.2 Whilst the reason for refusal refers to Policy EM4 (Hard surfacing), this should 
be EM1 (Extensions and Alterations). Taking into account the wording of the 
reason for refusal, it clearly relates to Policy EM1 and it is not considered that 
the appellant is prejudiced in any way to understand the concerns of the 
development.  Accordingly this appeal is assessed against Policy EM1. 

2. Site Description

2.1. The appeal site, 37 Linkfield, is a mid-terraced two storey dwelling with a 
pitched roof and forms part of a row of four terrace properties. The dwelling is 
located on the east side of Linkfield, which connects Boundary Lane with 
Howlands.

2.2. Front doors within Linkfield follow a fairly uniform pattern in that, the mid-
terraced properties are white in colour, with the top half of the door being 
obscured glazed. Whilst front doors amongst the bookend terraced properties 
are sited on the side elevation often brown in colour, with a Georgian design.

2.3. The front doors are located on the façade of the dwellings increasing their 
prominence within the streetscene. As such, the uniformity of the doors 
contributes to the Georgian architectural details, within the streetscene and 
Garden City.

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



3. The Proposal

3.1. The proposal seeks Estate Management Consent for a replacement door. The 
proposed door would be Worcester anice anthracite grey, with four vertical 
centred glazed windows, a silver door handle on the side and the letter box 
sited to the bottom of the panels. 

4. Relevant Estate Management History

4.1. Application Number: 6/2018/1096/EM Decision: Decision Date:
Proposal: Installation of solar panels on the roof – retrospective. 

The application above, is due to be taken to arbitration and is also being 
appealed and heard this morning.  

5. Policy

5.1. Estate Management Scheme Policies (October 2008)

EM1 – Extensions and Alterations

6. Representations Received

6.1. No representations have been received.

7. Discussion

7.1. This is an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management Consent. The 
appellant’s letter of appeal is attached at Appendix 1 and the original officer’s 
report for application referenced 6/2018/1275/EM is attached at Appendix 2.

7.2. The key issue in the determination of this appeal is the impact of the proposed 
development upon the amenities and valueS of the Garden City. 

7.3. In recognition of the importance of Welwyn Garden City as a unique town and 
in order to protect the amenities and values of the Garden City, the Estate 
Management Scheme was set up. The purpose of the Management Scheme 
and its importance to homeowners is to ensure that homes and street scenes 
are kept in harmony with the original design and concept of the town.

7.4. Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme (EMS) refers to extensions 
and alterations, and states that extensions and alterations will only be allowed 
where the works are in keeping with the design, appearance, materials and 
architectural detail used in the existing building, and would not harm the 
amenities and values of the area.

7.5. Linkfield is characterised with terraced properties. A common architectural 
design of these terraced properties involve the mid-terraced properties having 
facing frontages onto the highway, whereby the front doors are uniform in 
design and colour, thus being white in colour and having a glazed window in 
the top half of the door and bordered at the bottom half. A fenestration pattern 
within the street scene involves mid terraced properties having front doors 
sited on the front elevations. These doors are therefore highly visible within 
the street scene. Due to such prominence within the streetscene, the front 

Page 18



doors contribute significantly to the character and values of the surrounding 
area.

7.6. The majority of bookend terrace properties have brown doors, although those 
doors are sited on the side elevations of those properties and appear to 
contribute to the design of the terraced properties. Due to their location, those 
doors are less noticeable within the street scene. Those doors however 
preserve the original Georgian design of the doors, unlike this proposal which 
seeks a modern design. Due to these doors being located on the side 
elevations they are less visible within the streetscene. Nonetheless, they 
contribute to the architectural design, appearance and detailing in the existing 
buildings within Linkfield.  

7.7. The appeal dwelling features characteristics of a Welwyn Garden City 
dwelling, in terms of materials, Georgian glazing design as well as distinct 
architectural features including storm porches and white fenestration.

7.8. The dwelling hosts an existing front door conforming to the uniformity of the 
street scene, in that it has a storm porch, is white in colour, has a design 
whereby the door has a glazed window in the top half of the door, and the 
bottom half is boarded. This design is continued within the mid-terraced 
dwellings in which the appeal property sits. This contributes to the uniform 
design and appearance of the front doors within Linkfield and reflects the 
design and common colour, white, identified within the Garden City. 

7.9. Accordingly, the design and colour of front doors in this area contributes to the 
values and amenities of the area, and this is of particular importance given the 
features of the host appeal dwelling.

7.10. The proposed door would be Worcester anice anthracite grey, with four 
vertical centred glazed windows, a silver door handle on the side and the 
letter box sited to the bottom of the panels. 

7.11. Objections are raised to the detailed design and colour of the door as it would 
contrast with the Georgian style identified with the surrounding mid-terraced 
properties in the area and the architectural design identified within the Garden 
City. 

7.12. The colour and design proposed would result in an incongruous addition to 
the street scene, and as a result would cause harm to the amenities and 
values of the area. This would be readily viewable within the street scene 

7.13. The development would not preserve the unique architectural heritage of the 
town as it causes harm to the character and appearance of the building and 
the street scene. Thus resulting in a detrimental harm upon the amenities and 
values of the Garden City contrary to Policy EM1. 

7.14. A case has been advanced by the appellant in support of the appeal. The 
appellant outlines that doors on this street and within the area have different 

Page 19



designs and colour. To support the argument the appellant has attached 
several photos.

7.15. Whilst no addresses are provided with the photographs, several are 
identifiable within Linkfield as end terrace properties. As referred to above, 
architectural style and design of the end terraced properties obtain brown 
doors in the side elevation and therefore accord with the architectural style 
and design as discussed above.

7.16. With regard to the remaining doors, no addresses have been provided and it 
is not known if they are within the Estate Management Scheme and if so have 
the appropriate consent. Regardless, every application is considered on its 
own merits and therefore limited weight is given.

7.17. A compelling case has therefore not been made by the appellant to 
demonstrate why the circumstances advanced by the appellants of this 
particular property, when considered in its context, should override the wider 
values and amenities of Linkfield and Garden City. Accordingly, the proposal 
fails to reflect the character and appearance of the terrace properties to which 
it is located and the streetscene of Linkfield. The proposed development 
therefore fails to maintain the amenities and values of the Estate Management 
Area.

8. Conclusion

8.1. No additional evidence or information has been put forward by the appellant 
which adds to or would alter officer’s recommendation. The proposed colour 
of the new front door, design, and appearance in a prominent location of 
Linkfield, would be unacceptable and have a detrimental impact on the 
character and appearance of the appeal property, the row of terrace 
properties in which it is located and the surrounding street scene. Therefore 
the proposed colour and design of the door would cause harm to the values 
and amenities of the area and the proposal fails to accord with Policy EM1 of 
the Welwyn Garden City Estate Management Scheme. 

9. Recommendation

9.1. That the Members uphold the delegated decision and dismiss the appeal.

Name of Author: Clare Howe 

Title: Development Management Officer

Date: 20 July 2018

Background papers:

Appendix 1: Appellants grounds of appeal

Appendix 2: Original delegated officer’s report

Page 20



Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 23



P
age 24



P
age 25



P
age 26



P
age 27



P
age 28



P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND GOVERNANCE

DELEGATED APPLICATION

Application No: 6/2018/1275/EM
Location: 37 Linkfield Welwyn Garden City AL7 4DN
Proposal: Installation of a replacement front door
Officer:  Ms Clare Howe

Recommendation: Refused

6/2018/1275/EM
Context
Site and 
Application 
description

37 Linkfield is a two storey mid-terraced dwelling house situated on the east 
side of Linkfield, which connects Boundary Lane with Howlands. The site falls 
within the Estate Management Scheme.

The applicant seeks Estate Management consent for the installation of a 
replacement door. 

Constraints Estate Management Scheme, as defined within the Leasehold Reform Act 
1967

Relevant history Application Number: 6/2018/1096/EM Decision: Decision Date: 
Proposal: Installation of solar panels on the roof - retrospective

Application Number: W6/1997/5151/EM Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 10 June 1997
Proposal: Erection of a rear conservatory.

Application Number: W6/2005/1332/EM Decision: Refused Decision 
Date: 01 December 2005
Proposal: REMOVAL OF FRONT HEDGE TO WIDEN EXISTING HARD 
STANDING

Application Number: 6/2016/2379/EM Decision: Refused Decision 
Date: 19 January 2017
Proposal: Replacement of front and rear windows

Notifications
Neighbour 
representations

Support: 0 Object: 0 Other: 0

Consultee 
responses

No comments received. 

Relevant Policies

EM1  EM2  EM3
Others         

Considerations
Design (form, Policy EM1 states that extensions and alterations to existing properties will 

Page 31



2 of 2

size, scale, siting) 
and Character 
(impact upon 
amenities and 
values of Garden 
City)

only be allowed if they are in keeping with the design, appearance, materials 
and architectural detailing used in the existing building and do not have a 
detrimental impact on the amenities and values of the surrounding area or the 
residential amenity of adjoining occupiers.

The front doors within Linkfield are uniform in colour, and the majority are of a 
similar design (bottom part solid panel and top part obscured glazed). There 
are exceptions to the design within the area, as noted by the applicant, 
however the design remains to focus around the bottom part being of a solid 
panel and the top part being obscured glazed. In this instance the applicant is 
seeking a design which has obscured glazed windows in a horizontal line site 
centre and the full length of the door. Thus disrupting the common uniformity of 
the part solid, part obscured design. It is on this basis that is considered the 
proposed design would not be in keeping with the design, appearance, and 
architectural detailing used in the existing building. The proposal would 
therefore be detrimental to the amenities and values of the surrounding area 
and the Garden City, thus contrary to Policy EM4 of the Estate Management 
Scheme. 

Impact on 
neighbours

Due to the type of development proposed it would not result in adverse harm 
upon the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers by way of loos of sun, 
privacy or outlook. 

Conclusion
The proposed design would not be in keeping with the design, appearance, and architectural 
detailing used in the existing building. The proposal would therefore be detrimental to the amenities 
and values of the surrounding area and the Garden City, thus contrary to Policy EM4 of the Estate 
Management Scheme.

Reasons for Refusal: 

1. The proposed design would not be in keeping with the design, appearance, and 
architectural detailing used in the existing building. The proposal would therefore 
be detrimental to the amenities and values of the surrounding area and the Garden 
City, thus contrary to Policy EM4 of the Estate Management Scheme.

REFUSED DRAWING NUMBERS

2.
Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

Block Plan 10 May 2018
Block Plan Block Plan 10 May 2018
Location 
Plan

Location Plan 10 May 2018

Page 1 Existing side Elevation 16 May 2018
Page 2 Proposed Side Elevation 16 May 2018

Determined By:

Mr Chris Carter
15 June 2018

Page 32



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S. Boulton

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ESTATE MANAGEMENT SCHEME PANEL – 15 August 2018
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)

6/2018/0110/EM

74 ROSEDALE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL7 1DR

REPLACEMEMT OF CONERVATORY

APPLICANT:  c/o Mr Frank Cook

(Welwyn East)

1. Background

1.1. This is an appeal against the refusal of Estate Management (EM) Consent for 
the replacement of an existing conservatory. The application (reference: 
6/2018/0110/EM) was refused on 09 March 2018 for the following reason:

The proposal, by virtue of its solid pitched roof design, would not be in keeping 
with the character and appearance of the application property and the 
surrounding properties and streetscene. It would fail to represent high quality 
design, and would be detrimental to the amenities and values of the Garden 
City.  Accordingly, the proposal would be contrary to Policy EM1 of the Estate 
Management Scheme.

2. Site Description

2.1. The appeal site is a detached two storey dwelling which forms part of a 
collection of nine properties of similar styles in the central development in 
Rosedale. The property has a rear conservatory that was granted Estate 
Management consent in 2005 (ref: W6/2005/0360/EM.

3. The Proposal

3.1. The proposal seeks consent for the replacement of the existing conservatory 
with a new conservatory type extension of the same size and footprint. Instead 
of having a glass roof, the new structure would have contemporary grey panels 
combined with glass on the roof. The new frames would be white upvc with 
glass and brick elevations. 

4. Relevant Estate Management History

4.1. W6/2005/0360/EM: Rear conservatory granted consent in 2005

5. Policy

5.1. Estate Management Scheme Policies (October 2008)

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



EM1 – Extensions and Alterations

6. Representations Received

6.1. No representations have been received.

7. Discussion

7.1. This is an appeal against the refusal of EM consent. The appellant’s letter of 
appeal is attached at Appendix 1, and the original officer’s report for application 
reference 6/2018/0110/EM, is attached at Appendix 2.

7.2. The key issue in the determination of this appeal is the impact of the proposed 
conservatory on the values and amenities of the surrounding area. The impact 
on the residential amenity of adjoining occupiers is acceptable.

7.3. In recognition of the importance of Welwyn Garden City as a unique town and 
in order to protect the amenities and values of the Garden City, the Estate 
Management Scheme was set up. The purpose of the Management Scheme 
and its importance to homeowners is to ensure that homes and street scenes 
are kept in harmony with the original design and concept of the town. 

7.4. Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme (EMS) states that extensions 
and alterations to existing buildings will only be allowed if they are in keeping 
with the design, appearance, materials and architectural detailing used in the 
existing building and do not have a detrimental impact on the amenities and 
values of the surrounding area. 

7.5. The appeal property is a two storey, detached dwelling located centrally within 
Rosedale.  The property, along with nine other detached dwellings were 
designed with distinctive features and in similar styles in this central section of 
the road. Six of these nine properties have single storey 
extensions/conservatories. Of the six, two have flat roofs and four have 
conservatories.  

7.6. Policy EM1 aims for alterations to be in keeping with the existing property and 
not harm the values and amenities of the area. It is therefore essential that the 
uniformity in appearance of dwellings is maintained; in particular those features 
which are visible from the street frontage.  

7.7. In this instance, whilst there is no objection to the principle of a replacement 
conservatory, the refusal relates specifically to the introduction of a more solid 
form of roof. In the Garden City single storey extensions are generally expected 
to be designed with a flat roof which would limit the impact of the development 
on the rear elevation and maintain a consistency with the design and 
appearance of single storey extensions.  Generally, extensions with solid pitch 
roof forms are not consistent with the style of flat roofed single storey 
extensions which are prolific within Welwyn Garden City’s Estates Management 
areas.

7.8. The quality of the architecture in this central section of nine properties has 
largely been maintained with flat-roof extensions or conservatory additions 

Page 34



being a typical feature. Conservatory additions are largely acceptable with 
pitched or sloping roofs as their roofs consist of glass panels which are 
lightweight and transparent, subsequently having little contribution to the overall 
bulk and mass of the structure. 

7.9. In contrast, the introduction of a conservatory type extension with a more solid 
roof form would represent a more dominating form of development to the rear 
of this property. The solid roof form would no longer read as lightweight and 
transparent within the street scene. It would become more visible, given its 
more solid form becoming harmful to the amenities and values of the property 
itself and to the wider surrounding area. The existing conservatory (and the rear 
of this property) is readily visible from the surrounding street given the 
orientation of the house and therefore causing harm to the values and 
amenities of the area. 

7.10. A case has been advanced by the appellant in support of the appeal. This 
includes reference to various applications for “pitched single storey” extensions 
within the “estate”. These are detailed and summarised below: 

 -6/2018/0702/EM 6 Furzefield Road- Flat roof rear extension- granted

 -6/2018/0733/EM 234 Howlands- Flat roof rear extension with raised roof 
lights- granted

 -6/2018/0745/EM 10 Hurstlings- Sloping solid roof- refused

-6/2018/0259/EM 13 Moorend- Flat roof with single raised roof light- granted

-6/2017/2956/EM 229 Daniells- Flat roof with large raised roof light- granted

7.11. In this regard none of these cases set precedent for the replacement 
conservatory with a solid roof as proposed.  All the examples cited were for flat 
roof extensions, which were considered acceptable in the Estate Management 
Area. The one example 6/2018/0745/EM at 10 Hurstlings, was for a sloping 
solid roof. This application was refused consent for the harm that the solid roof 
would cause to the values and amenities of the EM area. 

7.12. The case has been further advanced by the appellant in support of the appeal, 
with reference given to number 20 Rosedale that has been granted Estate 
Management consent for the replacement of the conservatory roof at 20 
Rosedale (ref: 6/2106/0324/EM), which is one of the nine properties in this 
central part of Rosedale. The conservatory roof at number 20, which was 
previously made of glass panels has been replaced by a more solid roof. 

7.13. The replacement roof at number 20 is at odds with the majority of other 
extensions within the EM area, which are designed with a flat roofs consistent 
with the requirements of the Estates Management Scheme.  As a result, this 
extension unfortunately stands out as an incongruous addition which could be 
considered to be harmful to the EMS and demonstrates why such extensions 
should not be approved. Therefore whilst that replacement roof has been 
approved, it should not be repeated again, which would further harm and erode 
the EMS. In any event, every application should be assessed on its own merits.

Page 35



7.14. A compelling case has not been made by the appellant to demonstrate why the 
circumstances advanced by the occupants of this particular property, when 
considered in its context, should override the wider values and amenities of 
Rosedale.

8. Conclusion

8.1. The proposal would fail to enhance the appearance of the existing property 
given its pitched roof design with a more solid roof form. The conservatory 
extension would appear out of keeping with the property and the surrounding 
properties and form an overly dominant form to the rear of the dwelling which is 
unacceptable. 

8.2. The proposal, by virtue of its solid pitched roof design, would not be in keeping 
with the character and appearance of the application property and the 
surrounding properties and street scene.  It would fail to represent high quality 
design, and would be detrimental to the amenities and values of the Garden 
City.  Accordingly, the proposal would be contrary to Policy EM1 of the Estate 
Management Scheme. 

9. Recommendation

9.1. That the Members uphold the delegated decision and dismiss the appeal.

Sarah Madyausiku (Development Management Officer)

Date: 26 July 2018

Background papers:

Appendix 1: Appellants grounds of appeal

Appendix 2: Original delegated officer’s report

Page 36



Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Reasons for Appeal 

The proposed application was for a replacement conservatory. The current conservatory (photo 

attached) has stained timber frames with translucent bronze polycarbonate roof panels and white 

upvc rafters. 

The current conservatory is too hot in the summer and too cold in the winter making this space 

unusable. The initial idea was to upgrade the conservatory roof to a livin/hybrid roof with the use of 

insulated panels and heat reflective glass and make this room a usable space. 

The replacement conservatory roof market has grown considerably in the last few years. 

Generally these replacement roofs can be placed on existing conservatory window frames, however 

the current frames are timber and rotten beyond repair. 

The application was to replace these frames in upvc with a replacement livin/hybrid conservatory 

roof. 

The proposed livin conservatory roof has contemporary grey panels combined with glass, an email 

with pictures of the proposed conservatory roof was sent to the case officers with pictures and link 

to the conservatory roof manufacture. (Photos attached) 

The design of these roofs are to predominantly still look like a conservatory all though in definition 

form a building regulations point of view may be called an extension as part solid. When looking at 

the appearance of the existing conservatory with its translucent bronze polycarbonate roof it may 

look to the passer-by a solid roof but is by definition classed as a conservatory. 

There are other conservatory replacement roofs available but these involve synthetic tiles and Mr 

Edmond although wanting to benefit from the thermal efficiencies of the room still wants this to 

look predominantly like a conservatory. 

Within the immediate area there are a number of conservatories with translucent polycarbonate 

roofs which to the passer-by may look as if they a solid. 

During the course of the application the case officer said that the current application could not be 

supported and would be recommended for refusal. When speaking to the case officer the reason 

given was that no rear single storey pitched roof designs are permitted within the estate. To gain 

approval this design would need to be altered to a fully translucent conservatory roof or a flat roof 

with a perhaps a flat roof light. A part solid pitched roof or flat roof with a glass lantern would not be 

acceptable within the estate. 

An example of these livin/hybrid conservatory replacement roof was then sent to the case officer 

along with a query as to why an application for a replacement pitched conservatory tiled roof was 

approved at 20 Rosedale. 

The case officer did not give us a reason as to why this pitch tiled roof was permitted when we were 

told that no pitched roofs of any kind are permitted within the estate. The case officer did make a 

note of this in her report. 

‘ estate management consent has been granted for a replacement conservatory roof at 20 Rosedale 

(ref 6/2016/0324/EM) The conservatory roof at number 20, which was previously made of glass 

panels has been replaced by a more solid roof’ – ‘ however the roof is a single mono pitched form 

which is flatter than the roof proposed at number 74’ 

Page 39



Other than previously saying no single storey pitch roofs are permitted within the estate, the original 

conservatory at number 20 due to its age had a translucent polycarbonate roof not glass  as stated  

but had glass gables. The ridge height of the grey tile roof extension at number 20 is very similar to 

this proposed at number 74. 

There are current applications for pitched single storey rear extension in the estate 

6/2018/0702/EM flat roof with pitched glass lantern. 

6/2018/0733/EM low pitched solid roof 

6/2018/0745/EM pitch single slopping tiled roof 

Other than the application permitted at number 20 Rosedale for a solid pitch roof there have been 

more recent approvals for pitched roof rear extensions within the estate. 

6/2018/0259/EM flat roof with glass lantern 

6/2017/2956/EM flat roof with glass lantern 

We were told any type of pitched roof would not be supported and recommended for refusal. 

The case office also points out that the existing conservatory has been altered from the original 

planning application with some sort of black paint although this is translucent bronze polycarbonate 

and by definition a conservatory roof. 

It was also mentioned within the original planning application for the conservatory in 2005 that the 

conservatory has little or no effect on the surrounding properties. 

It should also be noted that during the course of this application no comments or objections were 

raised by any neighbours. 

The case officer has suggested that an application for a replacement conservatory would not be 

opposed although with a glass translucent roof. As discussed with the case officer this could mean 

we could re-apply as a traditional conservatory roof with bronze anti-glare glass and it could be 

recommended for approval, although to the passer-by still look like a solid roof. 

So the only reason for refusal of this application is the type of roof proposed. 

The reason for the appeal is to ask the committee to make a more measured decision on this type of 

replacement conservatory roof. 

We feel that proposing to use this type of conservatory roof it still predominantly looks like a 

conservatory and as mentioned in the original planning consent for this conservatory in 2005 causes 

no detrimental appearance to the street scene or neighbouring properties and should be 

recommended for approval. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



Page 41



 

Page 42



 

Page 43



 

Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
  
Mr F Cook 
88 Cardigan Road  
Bridlington 
East Yorkshire 
YO15 3JT 
 

   Application No:    6/2018/0110/EM 
 

      Date of Refusal:  9 March 2018 
 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL, in pursuance of powers under the 
above mentioned Act, hereby REFUSE to permit: - 
 

Development: Replacement of existing conservatory 
At Location: 74 Rosedale Welwyn Garden City AL7 1DR 

 Applicant: Edmonds 
Application Date: 12 January 2018 

 
In accordance with the accompanying plans and particulars, for the reasons 
specified below: - 
 
1. The proposal, by virtue of its solid pitched roof design, would not be in keeping 

with the character and appearance of the application property and the 
surrounding properties and streetscene.  It would fail to represent high quality 
design, and would be detrimental to the amenities and values of the Garden 
City.  Accordingly, the proposal would be contrary to Policy EM1 of the Estate 
Management Scheme. 

 
REFUSED DRAWING NUMBERS 
 
2. 

Plan 
Number 

Revision 
Number 

Details Received Date 

Location 
Plan 

1 Location Plan 12 January 2018 

CM-
00682162 

 Block Plan 12 January 2018 

Page 1  Existing Elevations 12 January 2018 
Page 2  Existing Floor Plan 12 January 2018 
Page 3  Existing Roof Layout 12 January 2018 
Page 5  Proposed Floor Plans 12 January 2018 
Page 6  Proposed Roof Layout 12 January 2018 
Page 4  Proposed Elevations 12 January 2018 

 
 

Notice of Decision 
LEASEHOLD REFORM ACT 1967 

Estate Management Scheme 
Refusal of Estate Management Consent 

 
 

Page 53



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
 
 

 
Colin Haigh 
Head of Planning  

Page 54



Page 3 of 3 
 

 

 
LEASEHOLD REFORM ACT 1967 

 
      
NOTE REFUSAL 
 
If the applicant is aggrieved by the decision of the Council to refuse permission for 
the proposed development, they may appeal to Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council in 
writing. 
 
If you would like to discuss alternative options leading to the submission of a revised 
application please contact the case officer. 
 
APPEALS 
 
Most applicants have the right of appeal to the Council’s Estate Management 
Scheme Appeals Panel if an application is refused.  All appeals and supporting 
information, outlining your request and the reasons, must be submitted in writing to 
the Council to planning@welhat.gov.uk or to the Planning Department at Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, AL8 6AE.  
 
The appeal will then be considered by the Estate Management Appeals Panel, 
usually within 8 weeks of receipt of the appeal.  As the appellant you have the 
opportunity to present your case by speaking at the Panel meeting.  For dates of the 
meetings, please look on the website www.welhat.gov.uk.  You will be notified prior 
to your case being presented to the Panel of the date, time and location. 
 
 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND GOVERNANCE

DELEGATED APPLICATION

Application No: 6/2018/0110/EM
Location: 74 Rosedale Welwyn Garden City AL7 1DR
Proposal: Replacement of existing conservatory
Officer:  Mrs Sarah Madyausiku

Recommendation: Refused

6/2018/0110/EM
Context
Site and 
Application 
description

One of nine similar properties in the central development in the middle of 
Rosedale.

The proposal is for the replacement of the existing rear conservatory of a 
similar size to the existing, but with a more solid roof form and side wall.

Constraints Estate Management Scheme, as defined within the Leasehold Reform Act 
1967

Relevant history
Application Number: W6/2005/0360/EM Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 05 May 2005
Proposal: Erection of rear conservatory

Application Number: 6/2017/2699/EM Decision: Granted Decision 
Date: 29 January 2018
Proposal: Erection of two sheds following demolition of two existing sheds. 
Removal of trees/hedges.

Notifications
Neighbour 
representations

Support: 0 Object: 0 Other: 0

Summary of 
neighbour 
responses

None

Relevant Policies

EM1  EM2  EM3
Others         

Considerations
Does the design (form, size, scale, siting) and character (appearance within the streetscene) 
maintain and/or enhance the amenities and values of the area?

Yes No N/A
Comment (if required):      Policy EM1 states:
Extensions in the Garden City are typically designed with a flat roof. In this part of the Garden City, 
the properties within the area are characterised by flat-roof single storey structures that contribute to 

Page 57



2 of 3

the amenities and values of the area and the Garden City. The quality of the architecture in this area 
has largely been maintained with flat-roof extensions and additions being a typical feature. Within the 
cluster of 9 properties in this central part of Rosedale, there are examples of conservatory type 
extensions with differing roof forms. 

Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme (Extensions and Alterations) seeks to ensure that 
extensions and alterations to existing properties will only be allowed if they are in keeping with the 
design, appearance, materials and architectural detailing used in the existing building.  That policy is 
there in order to preserve the unique architectural heritage of the town and its buildings and 
therefore the Council expects that all applications for extensions and alterations respect and do not 
harm the character and appearance of the building and the street scene. 

It appears that the existing glass conservatory roof has been somehow altered in colour with a dark 
paint of some kind having been applied. This did not form part of the original consent granted in 
2005 (ref: W6/2005/0360/EM) with included a glass roof. No application for Estate Management 
Consent has been assessed to alter its appearance.
Nevertheless, this proposal is to replace the existing conservatory with a new conservatory type 
extension of the same size and footprint. The replacement of the conservatory of a similar size would 
not be opposed in principle. However, the introduction of a more solid sloping roof, rather than a fully 
glazed roof would represent a more dominating form of development to the rear of this property that 
would be harmful to the amenities and values of the host property and to the surrounding area as a 
whole. The conservatory type extension, with the solid sloping roof, would be readably visible within 
the street scene due to its location, causing additional harm. 

The proposal would fail to enhance the appearance of the existing property given its pitched roof 
design with a more solid roof form. The extension would appear out of keeping with the property and 
the surrounding properties and form an overly dominant form to the rear of the dwelling which is 
unacceptable. 

The proposal, by virtue of its pitched solid roof design, would fail to maintain and enhance the 
amenities and values of the Garden City. 

Estate Management consent has been granted for the replacement of the conservatory roof at 20 
Rosedale (ref: 6/2106/0324/EM), which is one of the 9 properties in this central part of Rosedale. 
The conservatory roof at number 20, which was previously made of glass panels has been replaced 
by a more solid roof. However, this roof is a single mono-pitch form which is flatter than the roof 
proposed at number 74.  In contrast, the current application seeks to replace the existing 
conservatory with a structure of a similar size, but this structure, being higher than that at number 20 
and of a more bulky and larger roof size, combined with the solid roof form, would appear overly 
dominant when assessed in relation to the host dwelling and the surrounding street scene.  

Does the development minimise impact on neighbours?
Yes No N/A

Comment (if required):    The proposal would not adversely affect the light amenity, privacy or 
increase overlooking between the host dwelling and neighbouring properties. The proposal would 
not be overbearing to neighbouring dwellings. 

Vehicle Hardstandings Only.  Sections (a) and (b) completed only if hardstanding proposed
(a) Would the hardstanding retain an appropriate balance between hard and soft 
landscaping?  

Yes No 
Comment (if required):      N/A

(b) Would only the minimum length of hedgerow required to access the hardstanding be 
removed?  (e.g. privacy, outlook, light etc.)

 Yes  No N/A

Page 58



3 of 3

Comment (if required):      

Any other considerations 
None

Conclusion
The proposal is not reflective of the character and appearance of the dwelling and would have a 
detrimental impact on the amenities and values of the surrounding area and the Garden City as a 
whole. This conflicts with Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme.

Reason for Refusal: 

1. The proposal, by virtue of its solid pitched roof design, would not be in keeping with 
the character and appearance of the application property and the surrounding 
properties and streetscene.  It would fail to represent high quality design, and 
would be detrimental to the amenities and values of the Garden City.  Accordingly, 
the proposal would be contrary to Policy EM1 of the Estate Management Scheme.

REFUSED DRAWING NUMBERS

2.
Plan 
Number

Revision 
Number

Details Received Date

Location 
Plan

1 Location Plan 12 January 2018

CM-
00682162

Block Plan 12 January 2018

Page 1 Existing Elevations 12 January 2018
Page 2 Existing Floor Plan 12 January 2018
Page 3 Existing Roof Layout 12 January 2018
Page 5 Proposed Floor Plans 12 January 2018
Page 6 Proposed Roof Layout 12 January 2018
Page 4 Proposed Elevations 12 January 2018

Determined By:

Mrs Sarah Smith
9 March 2018

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Executive Member: Councillor S 
Boulton

Haldens, Handside, Hollybush, 
Howlands, Panshanger, Peartree and 
Sherrards Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ESTATE MANAGEMENT SCHEME APPEAL PANEL – 15 AUGUST 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)

UPDATE ON OUTSTANDING ENFORCEMENT CASES AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTION UNDER THE TERMS OF THE MANAGEMENT 
SCHEME FOR WELWYN GARDEN CITY FOR BREACHES OF THAT SCHEME

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report is to update Panel Members with regard to outstanding arbitration 
cases that have been put before the Panel, up to and including, on 14 June 
2018. 

1.2 A brief update on each property can be found in section 3 below. 

1.3 Additional cases will be presented at the next Panel meeting

2 Recommendation

2.1 That Members:

 Note the contents of the report. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



3 Individual Cases

3.1 251 Knightsfield

Nature and date of breach: Erection of single storey rear extension without 
Estate Management Consent; commenced June 2013.  

Background information: Officers attended the site at an early stage of 
construction and advised the owner of the need for EM consent for the 
extension.  At that stage footings had only been dug.  However the owner chose 
to continue with the construction.  A retrospective application for EM consent 
was submitted in June 2013 under application number W6/2013/1237/EM but 
the submitted plans did not reflect the development as built.  The application 
was, in any event, refused consent in October 2014.

The owner has declined to participate in the arbitration process and has opted 
to carry out works to address the concerns raised against the development. 
They have been advised the only way forward is to replace the roof lantern with 
a flat roof light and to reduce the height of the parapet wall, on all sides, to the 
level proposed under refused application 6/2016/1303/EM.  

The Owner has confirmed via e-mail on 15th January 2018 that an architect has 
been commissioned to prepare the necessary drawings for a revised scheme 
to be submitted to the panel for consideration. 

Update: The pre-application officer response was issued to the applicant in a 
letter dated 27th June 2018. The letter discussed amendments to try and make 
the rear extension more likely to gain Estate Management permission. 
Following the pre-application officer response a letter was sent to the owner 
30th July 2018 to establish what their intentions are but it is expected that an 
Estate Management application will be submitted. If that is the route that the 
owner intends to take then they have been advised to submit the application 
within 28 days of the date of the letter.

Page 62



3.2 72 Chequers

Nature and date of breach: Removal of front hedge and creation of 
hardstanding; date of breach unknown but reported in August 2012.

Background information: The established hedges to the front of the above 
site were removed and the complete front garden has been turned into a 
hardstanding without Estate Management Consent.  There are no other such 
examples of significant hardstandings within the area in which front hedges 
predominate the streetscene. A retrospective application for EM consent was 
submitted under application number W6/2012/1899/EM, which was refused on 
18th December 2012. 

A letter was sent to the owner on 27th July 2016 and a response was received 
on 10th August 2016 explaining why the work had been carried out. The owner 
stated that she works from home and due to on-street parking pressure due to 
Burrowfelds Industrial Estate and the rise in car ownership in recent years, the 
hardstanding provides a parking area. 

Update: An application is to be made to the President of the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors to appoint an arbitrator to determine the case in 
accordance with paragraph 8 of the Management Scheme for Welwyn Garden 
City.

Page 63



3.3 19 Fearnley Road 

Nature and date of breach: extension to driveway to form 70% hardstanding 
in front garden and the removal of front boundary hedge; date of breach 
unknown but reported in April 2016.

Background information: The previous hardstanding had space for one 
vehicle and the remaining area was soft landscaping. A retrospective 
application for Estate Management consent to try and retain the hardstanding 
was submitted under application number 6/2016/1603/EM and refused on 28th 
September 2016. The owner appealed the decision, the appeal was heard by 
the Panel on 26th January 2017 where the decision was upheld and the appeal 
dismissed.

Update: Contact between the Enforcement officer and the owner is on-going 
with the intention that a retrospective Estate Management application for a 
modified scheme will be submitted comprising of approximately 47% soft 
landscaping. The partial re-instatement of a section of front hedging is being 
pursued by the Enforcement officer as part of the modified scheme. If the 
application is not submitted by the end of August 2018 then the owner will be 
chased for the application.

Page 64



3.4 11 The Moors

Nature and date of breach: Erection of single storey rear extension that was 
reported in August 2016. The dimensions of the rear extension are 
approximately 6.4m deep, 2.23m to the eaves and 4.85m wide.

Background information: A retrospective application for EM permission was 
eventually submitted under application number 6/2017/1557/EM in July 2017 
however it has remained invalid ever since. 

The owner was advised that it was considered unlikely that EM consent would 
be granted due to the depth of the rear extension and was advised to submit 
an application that proposed alterations e.g. reducing the depth so that it could 
be looked upon more favourably. 

Page 65



The applicant has been chased several times by the enforcement officer and 
the Planning Support officer to provide the additional documents to validate the 
above retrospective application.  However, to date, those details have not been 
submitted. In any event the application seeks to retain the extension as is 
currently built. 

Following failure to submit the requisite information to validate the application 
the department withdrew the application on 26th September 2017. Authorisation 
was therefore sought for the Head of Planning to refer the matter to be 
determined by an arbitrator appointed by the President of the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors in accordance with paragraph 8 of the Management 
Scheme for Welwyn Garden City.

Following authorisation by the panel in October 2017, a letter was sent to the 
owner on 23rd November 2017 with an invitation to participate in the arbitration 
process to resolve the dispute. 

The owner however indicated unwillingness to participate in the arbitration 
process and has informed the team via e-mail on 20th December 2017 that an 
Architect has been commissioned to prepare a new scheme for submission to 
the council for consideration. 

Update: An email was sent to the owner on 21st June 2018 and a letter was 
also sent on 22nd June 2018 requesting an update within 7 days however no 
response has been received. The deadline in which to appeal the decision on 
application 6/2018/0372/HOUSE has passed and we have not been notified 
that an appeal was submitted. However a certificate of lawfulness has been 
submitted for the rear extension and is currently with the planning officer 
(reference 6/2018/1736/LAWE). The decision is due on 10th September 2018.

 In regards to the appealing the Estate Management decision 
(6/2018/0397/EM) there is no deadline in which to appeal however as authority 
has already been approved at the EMAP meeting in October 2017 to 
commence the arbitration process. Once a decision has been reached on 
application 6/2018/1736/LAWE, the arbitration letter will be re-issued to the 
owner inviting them to participate in the arbitration process. 

Page 66



3.5 88 Pentley Park 

Nature and date of breach: New raised beds, steps and walls and 
hardstanding to the front of the property. Exact date of breach is unknown but 
complaint was received on 11th April 2016.

Background information: Following warning letters, a retrospective 
application for retention of the works was submitted on 11th May 2016 but was 
refused on 7th July 2016. Following the refusal, the owners have so far ignored 
correspondence requiring the reinstatement of the front garden and have not 
taken up the option to appeal the decision to refuse consent for the retention of 
the works.

Update: The owner has met with officers at the Council offices and the meeting 
was followed by a site visit on 23rd April 2018 with an enforcement officer and 
a landscape officer. The resultant remediation proposal has been submitted for 
pre-application advice on 1st May 2018 and is still with a planning officer for 
consideration. 

Page 67



3.6 3 Digswell House Mews 

Background information: The enforcement team were notified that a 
retrospective Estate Management application for a roof light on the front roof 
slope had been refused permission. The owner was contacted and the 
enforcement team were advised that an appeal would be submitted. The appeal 
was heard at the Panel meeting in October 2017 and the Panel dismissed the 
appeal.

Update: An application is to be made to the President of the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors to appoint an arbitrator to determine the case in 
accordance with paragraph 8 of the Management Scheme for Welwyn Garden 
City.

Page 68



3.7 37 Linkfield

Nature and date of breach: Installation of solar photovoltaic panels to the front 
and rear roof slopes of the property. Exact date of breach is unknown but a 
report of the breach was received on 11th January 2017.

Background information: Following a site visit the owner was contacted 
advising action in regard to the solar panels particularly the ones located on the 
front roof slope of the property which the owner was advised were unlikely to 
be granted estate management permission. The enforcement team was 
contacted by the owner who advised that a retrospective estate management 
application would be submitted to try and retain the panels on both the front 
and rear roof slopes.

An Estate Management application to try and retain the solar panels (reference 
6/2018/1096/EM) was submitted and subsequently refused on 15th June 2018.
 
Update: Following authority being granted for the case to be taken to 
arbitration, the owner has since submitted an appeal against the refusal of 
application 6/2018/1096/EM. It is therefore suggested that we await the 
outcome of the appeal before proceeding to arbitration. 

Page 69



 Equality and Diversity

3.8 I confirm that an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out 
in connection with the proposals that are set out in this report.

Name of author Megan Taylor 
Title Senior Planning Enforcement Officer
Date 30 July 2018

Page 70


	Agenda
	6 37 LINKFIELD WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL7 4DN - 6/2018/1096/EM - INSTALLATION OF SOLAR PANELS ON THE ROOF - RETROSPECTIVE
	6a - Appendix 1 - Appellants Grounds of Appeal 37 Linkfield Solar Panels
	6b - Appendix 2 - Delegated Report 37 Linkfield Solar Panels

	7 37 LINKFIELD WELWYN GARDEN CITY AL7 4DN - 6/2018/1275/EM - INSTALLATION OF A REPLACEMENT FRONT DOOR
	7a - Appendix 1 - Appellants Grounds of Appeal 37 Linkfield Front Doors
	7b - Appendix 2- Delegated Report 37 Linkfield Installation of Front Door

	8 74 ROSEDALE, WELWYN GARDEN CITY, AL7 1DR - 6/2018/0110/EM - REPLACEMEMT OF CONERVATORY
	8a - Appendix 1 - 74 Rosedale
	8b - Appendix 2 Delegated Report_74 Rosedale

	9 UPDATE ON OUTSTANDING ENFORCEMENT CASES AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ENFORCEMENT ACTION UNDER THE TERMS OF THE MANAGEMENT SCHEME FOR WELWYN GARDEN CITY FOR BREACHES OF THAT SCHEME



